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Foreword

In the 9 months since I was commissioned to review 
policing in England and Wales, I have met, worked with 
and consulted the widest possible range of people from 
both within the policing family and the wider world. I  
am grateful for the range of experience and expertise that 
they have offered to me and could not be more impressed by the enthusiastic desire 
of all parties to make a contribution to better policing in England and Wales.

In September 2007, I presented the home secretary with my interim report, which 
focused largely on reducing unnecessary bureaucracy and embedding Neighbourhood 
Policing. In doing so I highlighted the importance of understanding the way in which 
‘risk aversion’ drives so much unnecessary bureaucracy and the crucial role which 
working in partnership with other agencies to develop effective neighbourhood 
management has in fulfilling the police service’s role in community safety.  

Now, as I present this final report to the Home Secretary, I have reflected on the 
ways in which the job of ‘policing’ has changed since I became a constable almost 
40 years ago. From research and discussion with senior colleagues and, most of all, 
by visiting the frontline and talking with officers carrying out the day to day work of 
modern policing, I have been struck by the far greater range of demands which the 
police service now faces.  

Many of these tasks, such as helping to manage offenders in the community and 
engaging in vital child protection work, would once not have been seen as ‘police 
work’. Some of those that would, such as combating the renewed but different 
terrorist threat and dealing with serious and organised criminality, have still been 
areas of significantly enhanced responsibilities.  Whilst all of these tasks must be 
undertaken, each of them places  demand upon our resources and  time.

In considering how best we can meet these challenges, I have sought to use my 
professional experience to look more than just a few years ahead and instead to 
offer a vision for what policing well into the 21st century should look like. Its most 
fundamental principle is that policing must deploy its resources to fight the threats 
which the public face; to minimise the harm which crime causes and to manage 
the risks which the police services manages on behalf of the public. Given the range 
of the demands on policing and the changing nature of our world, this will mean 
dynamic and flexible policing which can prioritise and respond to changing needs.
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In this report, I discuss how we can build this sort of policing and make 
recommendations about the sorts of changes which are needed to deliver it. But, 
of course, this report is not an end in itself. I look forward to the Home Office’s 
forthcoming Green Paper, due in the spring, which will be an important opportunity 
to take forward the debate about how to reform policing.  

Furthermore, so that the findings of this review are taken forward and implemented 
successfully, I will be reporting on the progress which has been made on my 
recommendations in 6 and 12 months time and, where there is ongoing work still 
underway, I will be publishing a series of further papers.

Most importantly of all, since, as I have always felt, policing is much too important, 
and too impactive on all our lives to be left to the police alone, I look forward to the 
informed public debate that we need to have about the sort of policing we want for 
the future. 

Sir Ronnie Flanagan GBE QPM

The Review of Policing – final report
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The challenges of policing England 
and Wales in 2008
Introduction
Policing over recent years has undergone significant change. While resources available 
to the police service have increased considerably, the threats and tasks the police 
have to manage have also considerably expanded, just as the social context in which 
policing is conducted has changed. In this introduction, I seek to examine the most 
important changes that have occurred over the last decade; to highlight the successes 
that have been achieved, and the challenges which policing faces today, if it is to 
deliver a high quality service and to continue to meet the demands placed upon it.

Resources and Performance
Over the last decade, policing in England and Wales has seen major increases in 
both funding and performance. In ten years central spending on policing has risen by 
nearly £5 billion (an increase of 39% in real terms). This extra funding has resulted in 
a 25% growth in the overall police workforce and a 10% increase in the number of 
police officers, which now stands around 140 000.

These additional resources have undoubtedly contributed to a significant 
improvement in performance, with crime falling by a third since 1997 and public 
confidence in the police, which had been falling consistently since 1982, rising 
since 2003/4. These improvements have been supported by a greater emphasis on 
performance management, both centrally from the Home Office and internally 
within individual forces. Developments such as the Police Performance Assessment 
Framework have played a role in creating robust comparative data and focusing on 
many important areas of delivery.

Despite these achievements, of which the service can rightly be proud, challenges 
remain to be overcome in the coming years. The Home Office’s Comprehensive 
Spending Review settlement of inflation-only increases will translate to tougher 
police funding settlements, which will demand greater efficiency and productivity if 
the service is to continue to deliver high quality policing to the public. Similarly, the 
service must strive to increase the public’s trust and confidence and to ensure that 
fewer people are victims of crime (especially serious crime) and, to do so, will require 
a performance management system which creates the right incentives for success.

Demands and complexity
The role of the police service has expanded and the range of issues it manages has 
diversified. As public expectations have grown and policy priorities have multiplied, 
the service now not only takes responsibility for its ‘traditional’ functions, but also 
for many new ones, which require different skills and different ways of working.

These developments mean that policing now ranges from counter terrorism and 
civil emergencies, to child protection; to the management of sex offenders in 
the community; to anti-social behaviour; to community policing. As the interim 
report sought to indicate, this diverse portfolio is bound together by the key goal 
of protecting the public. These new challenges have been met with innovative 
approaches. The development of Neighbourhood Policing and the creation of the 
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role of Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) being two such examples. 
However, in other areas the strains are visible, with, for example, the Police 
Federation stressing that officers engaged in ‘response policing’ face increasingly 
difficult conditions due to the volume of issues that now fall to them.

These increased demands contribute to the deeper complexity of policing in England 
and Wales today. Officers at all levels must be able to mix the disciplined and 
hierarchical working culture of a uniformed service, with the sorts of skills required 
to work cooperatively in partnership with colleagues from other agencies. Public 
attitudes to risk have become more acute. The legal context has developed, with 
a greater emphasis on the duties of care which the service owes to the public and 
which individual forces owe to their officers.

One particular area of change in the area of delivering modern policing and 
managing the additional complexities has been the increased role and responsibility 
of the superintending ranks. With the advent of the Basic Command Units coming to 
the fore in terms of delivery of frontline policing services, the role of superintendent 
has never been of greater significance. 

Neither these increased demands nor the additional complexities are negative in 
themselves. It is in many ways a tribute to the capabilities of the service that both 
the public and policy makers look to it to solve or manage new problems as they 
arise. Increased complexity can be the outcome of positive developments elsewhere 
in society, or a reflection of clearer understanding of previously ignored factors. 
In combination however, these factors make providing high quality policing more 
difficult, because they place further claims on finite resources and because they 
challenge the service to develop new ways to manage and succeed.

The Public Debate about Policing

Policing is far too important to be left to the police alone. It is a public service and one 
that can only be effectively carried out with the support and consent of the public. 
Using and developing this engagement with the public is one of the most important 
challenges in modern policing and it is a challenge that must be met at all levels.

At the local level, the police service needs to engage with communities to 
understand their needs and respond to them. At the national level, it will require all 
of those who contribute to the public debate about policing – in political parties, in 
the media and within the ‘policing family’ – to engage in an honest discussion about 
the future of policing. 

To deal with the range of challenges that policing faces, difficult questions, such 
as where should the police service do less and where might public expectations be 
unrealistic, must be discussed in an informed way that reflects the importance of 
making the right, rather than the easy, decisions for the future.

Conclusion

This Review has considered the evidence of recent times and the challenges which 
policing now faces. Its conclusion is that the collective impact of these challenges 
over the coming years will require a radically new approach to policing which I seek 
to address in the next section.
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A vision of successful 21st century 
policing

Overview
Policing in England and Wales finds itself ‘at a crossroads’. The range and scale 
of the challenges which it faces means that very serious decisions must be taken, 
not simply by the police service itself but by everyone involved in policing, about 
how we can best succeed over the next decade and beyond. One option would be 
to match the growing complexity of modern policing by seeking to specify every 
outcome and control and bureaucratise every aspect and process, from the centre 
to the force and within the force from the chief constable to the constable, in 
an attempt to cover every risk and meet every demand. To me, however, such a 
response would fail to acknowledge that a fundamentally different, more dynamic 
model is essential.

This report sets out an alternative vision of what successful 21st century 
policing should look like. At its centre is the argument that, as the demands placed 
on policing become more complicated and stretching, the service’s ability to fight 
the threats which the public face, to minimise the harm which crime causes and to 
manage the risks which it faces, is critically important if it is to both combat serious 
crime and build local confidence. This section explores how this simple operational 
goal must be incorporated into all aspects of modern policing to create a flexible, 
effective way of delivering public protection in the 21st century and highlights the 
key reforms that are required to achieve the simplest – but best – test of success: 
the right people in the right places at the right times, doing the right things, in 
partnership, for the public.

The right people in the right places at the right times

The report provides a comprehensive account of how the systems and structures of 
policing in England and Wales must adapt, at all levels, to ensure that police officers 
and staff are in ‘the right places at the right times’ to protect the public. 

This will require the redesign of the central structures which support policing; 
more strategic vision from the Home Office; more effective support from such 
bodies as my own Inspectorate1, from the National Policing Improvement 
Agency (NPIA), and a performance system (APACS)2 that focuses much more 
on key outcomes such as trust and confidence, so to create the space for 
entrepreneurial and innovative solutions from the leaders of the police service 
at all levels. These must in turn be supported and challenged by better training and 
development in resource management and tougher testing of their skills. Similarly, 
the funding formula used to distribute central funding to individual forces should, 
in future Spending Reviews, objectively and transparently allocate resources to have 
the maximum impact on what I later define as ‘threat, harm and risk’. 

1  Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC).
2  The Assessment of Policing and Community Safety, currently subject to consultation. 
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At force level, this will involve in depth assessment of both where officers and 
staff can make the biggest difference on the streets and of where the greatest 
risks to the public lie. It will also mean concentrating on high impact areas where 
efficiencies can be found, such as better demand management and procurement and 
fully exploiting the benefits of new technology, such as global positioning systems, 
to maximise the resources to be deployed on the frontline in the most effective 
ways possible.

Doing the right things

It is vital, given the range of tasks the police service now carries out, that 
opportunities are found to reduce the needless drain of unnecessary bureaucracy 
and free up space so that officers and staff can concentrate on the important parts 
of their jobs. The report addresses both the systemic drivers of unnecessary 
bureaucracy and brings forward concrete recommendations to reduce it in ways 
equivalent to more than 3,000 additional officers. 

First and foremost, this means that better understanding of risks to the public 
is matched by a better understanding of the dangers of risk aversion, within the 
service and in wider society. This acknowledgement must be translated to a more 
proportionate approach to crime recording with serious offences comprehensively 
recorded and lower level offences dealt with in a more streamlined way. It must be 
complemented by better processes for the important work which the police service 
carries out with the criminal justice system, using virtual courts to free up police 
time and rationalising processes like case file preparation.

In partnership

Policing is not simply the preserve of the police. Modern policing is carried out in 
partnership with a wide range of local agencies, from councils to primary care trusts 
to schools. The success of Neighbourhood Policing demonstrates how productive 
this approach can be in building trust and confidence and combating so-called ‘low 
level’ crimes that can blight people’s lives and causes significant harm.

The report’s recommendations highlight how this success can be used to support 
the development of the effective local partnerships which are critical not only to 
successful Neighbourhood Policing but policing at all levels: from well-designed 
central support from the NPIA; to building skills in those who work in these areas; to 
encouraging leadership from the most appropriate person working in a partnership, 
regardless of which organisation they come from.

For the public

The public must always be the single most important aspect of policing. Not just 
because their protection, trust and confidence are the key outcomes that policing 
must achieve but, crucially, because it is only by engagement with the public that 
the police service can truly know where its targets and priorities should be. The 
report’s research demonstrated that for most people, accountability, in practice, 
means how their local streets are being policed and how the police are treating them.
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The report builds on this finding by making a number of recommendations to 
improve citizen focus and community engagement to ensure that the police service 
is doing all that it can at this very local level to respond to the public, and to 
give them the sort of high quality service they should expect and demand. It also 
considers the question of how governance structures can best match the complexity 
of modern policing, in order to integrate the importance of local issues with serious 
crime and the need for regional and national responses to some problems, and it 
analyses options for how formal local accountability structures could be changed. 

Conclusion 

The original commisssion of this Review was to examine four separate issues namely 
(a) making most efficient use of resources, (b) embedding neighbourhood policing, 
(c) reducing bureaucracy and (d) enhancing local accountability. The interim report 
was indeed written in these separate sections. As was indicated in that report 
however, these are so over-lapping that it is felt that they are best addressed in this 
‘final report’ in a different structure. The following chapters are thus:- 

Chapter 1 – Threat, harm and risk

Chapter 2 – Central structures and systems that support 21st century policing

Chapter 3 – Improving performance at force level

Chapter 4 – Developing the police workforce

Chapter 5 – Freeing up space

Chapter 6 – Delivering in partnership

Chapter 7 – Involving local people
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Chapter 1 – threat, harm and risk

Introduction
1.1	 The key question within this report is how the police service can best deploy 

its resources between three fundamental - and often conflicting objectives - 
which lie at the heart of policing:

•	 The need to minimise the threats facing the public;

•	 The need to reduce the harm which crime causes; and

•	 The need to have contingencies in place to manage any residual risks.

1.2	 This approach is not only about how forces themselves make decisions on 
performance and productivity. Taking these objectives as our starting point 
gives us a wider view of the policing terrain that we are likely to face in the 
21st century.

1.3	I  do not mean to suggest that this approach has not been at the heart of 
the best of policing for years.  From frontline, operational situations to chief 
constables making strategic decisions, an appreciation of shifting priorities 
and changing environments has always been critical to effective policing.  
However, in acknowledging this, I also want to emphasise that, in light of the 
range of challenges that policing now faces, we must do more to support this 
approach and ensure that all of the systems and structures, from the national 
to the force to the local, are supporting its delivery.

Definitions and Application
1.4	 Modern policing needs to make decisions between competing objectives, new 

demands and changing circumstances.  Against this backdrop, a well developed 
understanding of how these decisions can best be made is critical to making the 
right decisions and providing the best possible service to the public.

1.5	 The table below briefly describes what each element of ‘Threat, Harm and 
Risk’ means in the context of policing:

‘Threat’ The scope and intensity of the demands which a force’s intelligence 
leads it to believe it faces.

‘Harm’ The total cost to society from the these demands being umanaged 
by the police service.

‘Risk’ The residual risk that remains when all of a force’s resources have 
been allocated and deployed to mitigate the threat.  This risk then 
remains to be managed and will require resilience and flexibility in 
forces’ workforces and strategies.

CHAPTER 1 – THREAT, HARM AND RISK



The Review of Policing – FINAL REPORT

10

1.6	 This ‘Threat, Harm and Risk’ approach is not only a way of allocating policing 
resources in a way that maximises police productivity and performance by 
focusing on the right things.  If done properly it also highlights important 
areas for development in the other areas which the Review was asked to 
consider: reducing unnecessary bureaucracy, mainstreaming Neighbourhood 
Policing and improving local accountability.

1.7	A s I have explained in my vision for 21st century policing, it is not only 
important that we have the right people in the right places at the right times 
but that they are doing the right things.  An important component of this is 
freeing up the space which officers need to focus on priorities and, as chapter 
5 of my report details, this will involve reducing unnecessary bureaucracy and 
improving processes.

1.8	 Similarly, Neighbourhood Policing and the wider area of local accountability 
are critical to ‘Threat, Harm and Risk’ because we can only fully understand 
what matters to the public, what their local priorities and concerns are and 
how policing can best serve them by engaging with them and responding 
to their views.  In chapters 6 and 7 of this report I highlight how the police 
service can build on the progress which Neighbourhood Policing has made 
and improve its engagement with the public to develop its understanding 
in these areas and generate greater trust, confidence and cooperation from 
communities.  

1.9	I  also make clear in several areas that some of the challenges which the police 
service faces, for example serious and organised crime and terrorism, require 
management and capabilities at a national or regional level. We must ensure 
that these important priorities, which have the capacity to do serious harm 
to the public, are properly incorporated into the overall delivery of policing in 
England and Wales.

Context
1.10	 The increased public spending on policing in recent years has been largely 

manifest in increased numbers of those involved in policing. It is now clear 
however that this growth cannot continue indefinitely and the funding 
settlement for the next three years holds resource at a level point. However, 
public expectations of the police and the high-level Public Service Agreements 
which set out our priorities on crime remain demanding. 

1.11	I f forces are to meet these expectations, or want to do something different 
with essentially the same level of resource, then they will have to look at how 
they can use their resources more efficiently. This is the essence of improving 
productivity – it is about doing more with the same resources – making them 
go further by improving their deployment to deliver better outcomes. 

The Review of Policing – FINAL REPORT
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1.12	 To achieve this the police service needs a more convincing and coherent 
productivity case than we have now and fully realising the benefits from 
the ‘Threat, Harm, Risk’ approach is a crucial way in which this can be done.  
Within this approach, there is significant scope for improving productivity. In 
order to do this the service must also be aware of some of the issues which 
have previously hampered such attempts. The debate about policing has 
often had too great a focus on inputs, such as the growth of police officer and 
PCSO numbers, rather than a focus upon what those staff are actually doing 
and what outcomes they are supporting through their work.  Similarly, the 
police performance regime has not always adequately dealt with all of the 
issues that go to make up police productivity. 

1.13	A s awareness of the productivity agenda increases there is a danger that the 
issue will be split into two separate challenges – one focusing on achieving 
outcomes, and the other on the level of resource spent. However, these two 
issues are inter-dependent and there needs to be one conversation about 
productivity and performance, in the context of the overall approach of 
mitigating and managing threat, harm and risk. In doing so, we can move the 
debate away from discussing inputs such as officer numbers, to what those 
officers are achieving and how. 

1.14	A t the same time we need to recognise that our knowledge base about 
productivity is less developed than in other sectors, as this has not been an 
area of high priority. The process of reducing crime is not straight-forward 
with many variables which the police do not necessarily control (such as 
wider, societal changes and the state of the economy). This is of course not 
unique to policing.   Both health and education, for example, have to address 
challenges presented by issues such as the social-economic background of 
their service users which have a huge impact on outcomes. What is essential 
is ensuring that best practice is identified and shared, and that there is 
sufficient flexibility and understanding at the local level to maximise how 
resources are used to address these challenges. 

Solutions
1.15	I  believe that we must incorporate the mitigation and management of threat, 

harm and risk at all levels if we are to achieve significant improvements.   In 
the rest of this report I develop proposals for how these ideas can be put into 
practice across policing.  At the strategic level this includes how:

1	 We might better match resources to the underlying drivers of police 
demand, in particular those related to the threat from serious and 
organised crime and the need for greater public protection.

2	 The Home Office could take a more strategic approach by concentrating 
on setting the framework, clarifying the roles and responsibilities of central 
bodies.

CHAPTER 1 – THREAT, HARM AND RISK
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3	 Mandatory comparative information in the shape of a Force statistical 
profile, could provide a valuable set of diagnostic tools. This would 
enhance the ability of Forces and other central bodies to identify areas 
where productivity could be improved, while strengthening bottom up 
accountability by Police Authorities. 

4	 We can apply the benefits from a  handful of “high potential areas” of the 
sort currently underway in projects such as ‘QUEST’ more widely across 
the service

5	 More can be done in terms of training and development of officers 
and staff, particularly in the area of financial & resources management, 
together with due recognition in their promotion and selection processes.

The Review of Policing – final report
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Chapter 2 – central structures and 
systems to support 21st century 
policing

Overview
2.1	 This section sets out how the central structures and systems available to 

support policing in England and Wales can best assist in the delivery of 21st 
Century policing. It explains firstly how the central bodies with a role to 
play in this process should reconsider how best to combine their roles and 
responsibilities into an effective overall system. It then goes on to analyse 
the part that a central performance management system should play and the 
ways in which better, standardised force level data can help both individual 
forces and the central bodies achieve a deeper understanding of what is 
driving performance at the local level. It also considers how central resources 
are allocated to fund local policing and the issue of central limits on the 
resources that can be raised at the local level.

Introduction
2.2	 If we are to make the best use of police resources then it is essential that 

the supporting structures in the world of policing drive this behaviour. 
Policing resources need to be aligned around priorities, such that they 
reduce the threat to the public, mitigate the harm that communities and 
individuals experience and manage effectively the risks that the police service 
is asked to bear. Some enabling factors need to be in place at the national 
level, to facilitate delivery of appropriate tools and techniques for improved 
deployment of resources at force level.

2.3	A  system which is successful in improving productivity and performance has a 
number of key factors:

1)	I t needs to be aspirational to encourage change across all delivery 
agents to aspire to be the best, not the average. At present, with 
current performance compared with a historic baseline many forces are 
incentivised to ‘coast’ rather than to excel and deliver the best that can be 
achieved in current circumstances. As private consumers we do not go out 
of our way to buy an average product. We aim to buy the best that we can 
afford, and this principle should apply equally, if not more so, to the public 
sector, especially in light of the additional investment in policing in recent 
years;

2)	A  system which sets high aspirations also needs to create sufficient 
pressure on the bulk of suppliers to deliver a better product. As we do not 
have the option to ‘buy our policing services’ from another supplier we 
need to find other ways to apply this pressure;

CHAPTER 2 – Central structures and systems that support 21st century policing
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3)	 However, this pressure must be balanced by sufficient support for those 
working in the policing family so that they know what is expected of them 
and how they can best achieve it;

4)	N ational and local stakeholders also need to know that they are 
getting value for money and so need to hold the ‘suppliers’ of policing 
accountable for performance and productivity. This requires transparent, 
consistent and directly comparable information. 

2.4	A  functioning system that delivers all of this is essential not only for making 
best use of police resources, but for providing a framework for policing 
more generally. The policing world can be a confusing one with a number of 
organisations involved that have potentially over-lapping remits; but these 
organisations must collectively agree their roles and deliver on them in order 
to create the right balance of central control and local pressure and support 
for forces to deliver significant improvements.

Roles and Responsibilities
2.5	 The governance of the police service in England and Wales is operated 

through what is commonly termed ‘the tripartite relationship’ between:

1	 The home secretary, responsible to Parliament for the overarching 
efficiency and effectiveness of the service as well as the maintenance of 
minimum service standards;

2	I ndividual police authorities which are responsible for the efficiency and 
effectiveness of the police force for their areas and for consulting with the 
public on policing matters, collectively represented by the Association of 
Police Authorities (APA);

3	C hief Constables who are responsible for the operational effectiveness of 
individual police forces, collectively represented by the Association of Chief 
Police Officers (ACPO).

2.6	R epresentatives from each of these bodies sit on the National Policing Board 
which decides the strategic direction and development of the police service. 
The Home Office implements these decisions at a national level, setting 
the strategic direction through PSAs and ensuring that there are adequate 
arrangements to track progress and take remedial action if necessary. 

2.7	 The four main central bodies which work with the Home Office in this role 
are: Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC), the Association of 
Chief Police Officers (ACPO), the Association of Police Authorities (APA) and 
the National Policing Improvement Agency (NPIA). They work with the Audit 
Commission, the independent public body responsible for ensuring that public 
money is well spent in local service provision. (There are of course many other 
bodies involved in oversight of the policing function, such as the Health and 
Safety Executive and the Office of Surveillance Commissioners). 
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2.8	I t is important that each of these organisations reconsiders how it can best 
contribute to the delivery of overall police performance.

The Home Office

2.9	 Ultimately the home secretary is responsible to Parliament for policing in 
England and Wales. It is for government to set its strategic priorities, for 
example on crime, through the Public Service Agreements (PSAs). These 
translate directly to forces through the performance framework (PPAF/
APACS).

2.10	 Within the Home Office there exists the Police and Crime Standards 
Directorate (previously the Police Standards Unit). In recent times this 
directorate has shifted its focus from individual police forces to concentrating 
on where it can assist partnerships such as Crime and Disorder Reduction 
Partnerships. This I see as a welcome change in emphasis. 

2.11	 Part of the strategic role for the Home Office is to ensure that there is 
appropriate information on how individual forces are performing so as 
to not only have an understanding of police performance ‘across the 
board’, but also in respect of which forces are doing particularly well or 
are struggling. This information can be used to recognise forces that are 
doing well, to support those forces which are struggling and ultimately to 
intervene where forces are failing to improve. 

2.12	I n the spirit of a more strategic, ‘hands-off’ approach, the Home Office 
should ensure that its own staff (including those in Government Offices) 
can best align their work with that of the inspectorates in order to maximise 
the benefit to forces and minimise the potential for overlap, confusion or 
duplication.

HMIC

2.13	 Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary exists with a legislative 
responsibility to ensure effectiveness and efficiency in policing. Where it 
identifies areas for improvement in this regard, the NPIA (see below) acts to 
bring about this improvement. 

ACPO

2.14	 The Association of Chief Police Officers (ACPO) is an independent, 
professionally led strategic body. In the public interest, and in equal and active 
partnership with Government and the Association of Police Authorities, ACPO 
leads and coordinates the direction and development of the police service in 
England, Wales and Northern Ireland. In times of national need, ACPO – on 
behalf of all chief officers – coordinates the strategic policing response.
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APA

2.15	 The Association of Police Authorities provides input into strategic 
decision making at a national level in relation to inspection programmes 
and performance management frameworks affecting the police service. It 
provides support through training and guidance to police authority members 
and staff to assist them in their roles holding chief officers to account for the 
delivery of effective performance outcomes for local communities.

NPIA

2.16	 The National Police Improvement Agency is also an important part of this 
picture, balancing HMIC’s role of challenging forces on their performance with 
support that identifies what works and spreads good practice amongst forces.

2.17	 The NPIA already assists the police service by providing expertise in areas 
as diverse as information and communications technology, support to 
information and intelligence sharing, core police processes, managing change 
and recruiting, developing and deploying people.

2.18	I n order to build on the valuable work it is already doing and to fulfil 
the enhanced role envisaged by the Review, the NPIA should learn from 
similar organisations in other parts of the public sector whose guidance is 
implemented as standard. To drive up performance in the police we need to 
make best practice expected practice, and the NPIA has a key role in driving 
and facilitating this culture shift. 

2.19	I n order to achieve this development, the NPIA, which is commissioned and 
held to account by the Home Office, ACPO and the APA, will need a tighter, 
better focused mandate from the tripartite bodies. I realise that the Agency 
does not have infinite resources at its disposal so recommendations in 
the report directed to the NPIA should be examined and prioritised by the 
tripartite Policing Portfolio Group of the National Policing Board.

2.20	 The Audit Commission and the Wales Audit Office are independent bodies 
responsible for ensuring that public money is spent economically, 
efficiently and effectively in the delivery of high-quality local services for 
the public. They have a valuable part to play and it is important that they 
and other regulators work effectively together as described in the recent 
joint inspectorates’ consultation on the new performance framework, 
Comprehensive Area Assessment (CAA).
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2.21	 The Audit Commission has also published proposals for a new approach to 
the annual Use of Resources assessment for all local public services including 
policing. This gives greater and welcome emphasis to value for money 
achievements and outcomes for local people, with less focus on process. 
Welcome too is the Commission’s commitment to continue to work closely 
with HMIC to ensure that the Use of Resources judgements for policing (PURE) 
better incorporate HMIC’s extensive knowledge of operational policing. 

Delivering Change
2.22	 Much has been done by the individual bodies above and indeed others, to 

clarify their roles and to avoid duplication of effort but I remain unconvinced 
that the police service is clear on the various distinctions of role. Much more, I 
feel, needs to be done in this regard. 

2.23	 There should be a process of clarifying and re-designating roles and 
responsibilities, to remove duplication and sharpen incentives and 
accountability for performance and productivity. Within this framework:

1	 The Home Office should lead a process to re-design roles and 
responsibilities, making a clearer distinction between the need for 
strategic control by the Home Office and the need for more effective local 
monitoring by regulators and police authorities;

2	 HMIC, working in partnership with the Audit Commission and the Home 
Office, should address duplication by other bodies carrying out inspection 
functions; and

3	A  product of the process should be that the Home Office sets clear 
reporting expectations of regulators and the NPIA against which they can 
reasonably be held accountable.

Recommendation 1

The Home Office, HMIC, ACPO, APA and the NPIA should clarify and re-design 
their roles and responsibilities to remove duplication and sharpen incentives 
and accountability for performance and productivity. They should set out their 
proposals to the National Policing Board in July 2008.
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Figure 1: Greater clarity of roles will help forces deliver improvement

Information
2.24	I n order for the system to function effectively, all the key stakeholders will 

need the right sorts of information on how a force is performing – both at 
the central level for bodies such as the Home Office, HMIC, NPIA, Audit 
Commission, and at the more local level for forces and their authorities. It is 
also important that this information is presented in an accessible way to the 
public so that they can hold their forces to account for the service that they 
receive. 

2.25	 The type of information that each of these organisations needs will be 
different, reflecting their different roles. At the national level, the Home Office 
needs high level, outcome information to track progress on its PSAs, down to 
force level. It will also need more qualitative assessments on risk and, more 
generally, an assessment of how well resources are being deployed. They will 
also need to be able to compare performance between forces to give them 
a sense of what forces should be achieving; therefore at least some data will 
have to be collected in a consistent way across forces. 
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2.26	 Police authorities and forces on the other hand will need to balance the 
achievement of national with local indicators, while managers and their staff 
will require more fast-time information on the key drivers of performance in 
order to make operational decisions.

Performance Management systems
2.27	 The way in which the forthcoming Assessment of Policing and Community 

Safety (APACS) is finalised and implemented will be a key test for this new 
approach; it will be APACS that gives us the information we need for forces 
and organisations at the centre to assess how well forces are performing. 
APACS is also one way of providing the public with a clear and accessible 
judgement on the performance of their local force. In order to deliver policing 
that uses judgment and discretion to deal with the numerous, competing 
demands that it faces and to reflect local priorities and is vital that APACS 
supports these objectives. Furthermore, its design must create the space for 
the more strategic behaviour needed from central organisations such as the 
Home Office and HMIC and greater sense of ownership and flexibility that 
forces need to have in order to contribute fully to improving productivity and 
performance.

Background

2.28	 The issue of how best to structure and to use central performance systems 
has been the topic of considerable debate in public policy for more than a 
decade, both within the policing world and beyond. On one hand there is a 
clear need for a performance system that:

1	 captures the information that central government legitimately needs to 
have, creates a means for communicating its policy priorities to those 
delivering services and also a way of monitoring and incentivising actual 
delivery;

2	 similarly, brings some standardisation to the performance management 
systems that local delivery bodies and their local accountability bodies 
need in order to manage and scrutinise their organisations; and

3	 gives the public worthwhile information about the quality of the services 
they are receiving so that they can too can hold all of those responsible 
for delivery properly accountable.

2.29	O n the other hand there is a risk that such systems can create the wrong 
incentives, can be overly rigid and fail to reflect local differences and can 
be overly bureaucratic to administer. The way in which the forthcoming 
assessment of policing and community safety (APACS) is finalised and 
implemented will be a key test for this new approach.
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2.30	I n the specific context of policing, the Policing Performance and Assessment 
Framework (PPAF) prototype was published in 2004. PPAF is a framework 
created by the Home Office, in consultation with ACPO and the APA, and 
has as its base a range of domains and indicators that are populated by 
performance data from individual forces. It was used to carry out the annual 
Police Performance Assessment conducted by the Home Office and Her 
Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabularies (HMIC), with advice and support 
from the Association of Police Authorities (APA) and the Association of 
Chief Police Officers (ACPO). This assessment has as its central descriptive 
tool, rankings of force performance in key areas such as Tackling Crime 
and Satisfaction. Forces were categorised as Excellent, Good, Fair or Poor 
relative to the performance of other ‘most similar forces’ facing comparable 
demands and also, in some areas, graded as to whether the trajectory of their 
performance in these areas was ‘Improved’, ‘Stable’ or ‘Deteriorated’.

2.31	 Prior to PPAF we had Best Value Indicators but these were more ad hoc, 
developed over a decade or so, and did not reflect extant policing priorities. 
PPAF was a great leap forward because it was based on robust comparative 
data and the domains largely reflected where most effort was directed, with 
the exception of Protective Services. It did bring significant benefits and was 
an important part of the process of focusing on the outcomes policing should 
be delivering and the ways in which performance can be improved. However, 
criticism and concerns were also voiced that PPAF is too reliant on quantitative 
indicators, and thus was a not an accurate reflection of performance in light 
of local conditions since it did not take account of threat, harm and risk or the 
relative resource bases of difference forces, and that the number of indicators 
it included prescribed so much of policing that little scope was left for 
professional discretion and instead created perverse incentives.

The Assessment of Policing and Community Safety

2.32	 The Home Office announced in 2006 that it would be replacing PPAF with 
a new system of performance assessment, the Assessment of Policing and 
Community Safety (APACS). This change was a recognition that as policing 
became ever more delivered in partnerships with local government and other 
partners a new system was needed. A principal rationale for APACS is that it 
draws together three pre-existing frameworks, covering policing, Crime and 
Disorder Reduction Partnership performance and drugs, and reflects the fact 
that policing is not simply a task for the police. Forces felt that PPAF held 
them to account but other agencies slipped away from scrutiny.

2.33	 This re-evaluation of the national performance system offers a significant 
opportunity to everyone involved in policing, to both build on the successes 
that PPAF was able to deliver and to learn from the experience and expertise 
that has been developed over the last decade. As noted in the section above, 
to meet the challenges which it faces over the coming years policing in 
England and Wales must be both supported and challenged in better, more 
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sophisticated ways by central organisations with an interest in productivity 
and performance. This will require more strategic direction from the Home 
Office, more support from the NPIA and more effective, proportionate, risk-
based scrutiny from HMIC and the Audit Commission.

2.34	A  major part of this process, explained in more detail in the following section, 
will be creating better diagnostic tools and comparative information about 
force performance for everyone involved in police performance to develop 
their understanding of where searching questions should be asked – from the 
centre, by force themselves and from the local level – and where efficiencies 
may be found. These measures need not, and indeed should not, be part of 
the performance system itself since doing so would encourage a uniform 
approach across forces, ignoring the significant of context and expertise in 
deciding where priorities should lie. 

2.35	 These changes must also be reflected in the design of APACS if they are 
to be successfully achieved. Crucially, it must be recognised that better 
functioning structures at both the national and the local levels will be able to 
provide more intelligent challenge and scrutiny, understanding the impact of 
context on force performance and scrutinising local priorities. To allow these 
improvements to be realised APACS itself must, correctly, be recognised as 
just one part of the system for delivering better performance rather than the 
sole means of doing so.

2.36	I n order to achieve these goals APACS should focus on supporting the four 
key performance outcomes set out in the 2007 Public Service Agreements, 
and some high level means of comparing force productivity, since this clearly 
makes an important overall contribution to performance. Such an approach 
will hold forces accountable for their overall delivery and identify areas of 
inadequate performance. 

2.37	A PACS should avoid performance indicators which can become further 
unofficial targets (for example measures targeting individual types of crime) 
or which unduly influence the mechanism that forces use to deliver (for 
example the use of Automated Number Plate recognition). Such indicators 
risk creating perverse incentives and compromise local innovation, efficiency 
and accountability.

2.38	 To reflect the above changes, the Statutory Performance Indicators set out 
in APACS should focus on monitoring the Government’s PSA priorities, and 
should avoid setting indicators which unduly influence the means adopted by 
forces in meeting these priorities.

2.39	A PACS should properly understand and reflect the difficulty of measuring 
performance in areas such as public protection, counter terrorism and level 
two and three crime. These areas are often less amenable to quantification 
and are also often best understood and combated at the regional level by 
cross-force capabilities, meaning that force level comparisons can be hard 
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to make meaningful and can be potentially misleading. Thus in these areas, 
a small number of suitable designed indicators should be supported by local 
monitoring and reporting by HMIC.

2.40	I n respect of efficiency, APACS should limit itself to identifying those forces 
whose productivity differs significantly from other similar forces by comparing 
spend per 1,000 population on a like for like basis, and by triangulating 
relative performance with relative resources.

Recommendation 2

APACS should centre on the Government’s high-level priorities, drawing its 
indicators directly from the PSAs, supported by a small number of high level 
indicators on areas not covered in the PSA suite such as productivity and 
some suitably defined performance indicators on serious crime and counter 
terrorism. HMIC should collaborate with the Home Office to develop high level 
productivity measures for use in the 2010 APACS assessments.

In conjunction with these measures, by 2010 forces should develop data useful 
for them to understand their performance and productivity.

Diagnostic Information

2.41	 With APACS taking a high level, outcome focus on performance there is a 
need for additional information to support the work of HMIC in providing 
challenge and for forces to assess performance and productivity at a more 
detailed functional level. Crucially, this information must be used in an informed 
and diagnostic way by HMIC, as the basis for challenging questions and the 
consideration for local context, rather than as the basis for further targets or the 
simple classification of individual scores as ‘pass’ or ‘fail’. This section discusses 
the current model of Activity Based Costing used in England and Wales and 
recommends alternative ways in which better outcomes can be achieved.

Activity Based Costing (ABC)

2.42	 The ABC process is a costly national exercise which has been undertaken for 
several years. It relies on accurate recording of time spent by mainly front 
line staff of the activities they are undertaking. Like all data collected in this 
way it is subject to errors, but it is potentially a rich source of comparative 
information. Indeed, the Review’s work on reducing unnecessary bureaucracy 
has used activity analysis data in assessing time spent on paperwork. But, in 
view of the need to reduce bureaucracy, the issue is whether there are more 
efficient ways of achieving the same ends. ABC serves two main purposes:

1	 it attempts to relate all input costs to outputs; and

2	I t is a factor used by the Home Office as a way of distributing grant.
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2.43	A s a way of relating inputs to outputs, ABC should be a fruitful source 
of productivity information. Some Forces have used ABC as descriptive 
information, but there is little convincing evidence of ABC being successfully 
applied by Forces to improve productivity – despite significant effort by some, 
such as the MPS. There are several reasons why:

1	 Difficulties in establishing an effective denominator – using crime as 
the denominator would result in Forces with high crime rates reporting 
low costs per crime. It is clearly perverse to consider such a Force as 
being more productive based on this fact alone. Furthermore, police are 
also concerned with increasing detections among other activities. But 
a comparison of detection rates for the “average” crime could also lead 
to the wrong conclusions principally because detection rates are not 
independent of crime rates. More crime usually results in more detections.

2	 ABC is not user friendly – experience suggests that the credibility of good 
comparative information depends upon it being useable by managers 
running the police service, and be based on the key questions they need 
to ask. ABC often requires an expert to extract and interpret the data and 
frequently cannot answer specific queries.

3	 High risk of spurious variations – due to methods of collection. 
Information is only collected on a snap shot basis – 2 weeks per 
annum – and confidence in it decreases, the more detailed the analysis. 
Comparisons of costs of crime and detections by type in particular can be 
subject to these sorts of errors.

2.44	 The system also imposes a significant bureaucratic burden. It collects much 
redundant information, since it collects the same level of detail everywhere 
rather than only where it needs to be collected. The principle of efficient data 
collection is to collect high level comprehensive information to highlight key 
variances and then collect additional information to investigate the reasons 
for difference. 

2.45	 Furthermore it is not suitable for making assessments in APACS because 
Activity analysis results can be open to manipulation and the incentive to 
do so is greater if they are included in APACS or PPAF. This is a concern with 
the Front Line Policing Measure where the incentive is to account for staff in 
such a way as to maximise the PPAF score. 

2.46	I t is hard to conclude that ABC as a comparative tool for improving 
productivity represents good value for money. However, there is evidence that 
local activity analysis has proved useful in evaluating new initiatives – such as 
swift and speedy justice. Locally based activity analysis may also have a role 
in those forces which lack adequate IT systems to assess whether activities 
by key staff such as response officers and community support officers’ are 
aligned with objectives.
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Annex B: Summary of recommendations

Recommendation 1:

The Home Office, HMIC, ACPO, APA and the NPIA should clarify and re-design 
their roles and responsibilities to remove duplication and sharpen incentives 
and accountability for performance and productivity. They should set out their 
proposals to the National Policing Board in July 2008.

Recommendation 2:

APACS should centre on the government’s high-level priorities, drawing its 
indicators directly from the PSAs, supported by a small number of high level 
indicators on areas not covered in the PSA suite such as productivity and 
some suitably defined performance indicators on serious crime and counter 
terrorism. HMIC should collaborate with the Home Office to develop high level 
productivity measures for use in the 2010 APACS assessments.

In conjunction with these measures, by 2010 forces should develop data useful 
for them to understand their performance and productivity.

Recommendation 3:

The Home Office should urgently examine its requirement for each force to 
undertake Activity Based Costing with a view to this requirement being replaced 
with an alternative which costs less, is easier to use and has greater impact on 
productivity.

It should also assess alternative ways of meeting its information requirements 
regarding the allocation of police funding.

Recommendation 4:

The Home Office should support HMIC, the Audit Commission, forces and 
police authorities in developing a statistical profile for each force, similar to 
those used successfully in local government and the health service, which would 
include comparable high level data on staff numbers, objective costs and key 
management ratios. Prototypes of these profiles should be prepared by autumn 
this year, with final versions available by autumn 2009.
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Recommendation 5:

The allocation of grant funding to police authorities should be based 
transparently on objective need in order to better match resources to threat and 
demand.

To achieve this, the Home Office should move towards a fuller application 
of the funding formula in future Spending Reviews, phasing out the existing 
damping mechanism of floors and ceilings.

To better address the demands of protective services, the protective services 
steering group should consider top-slicing funding. In the longer term, the Home 
Office should seek agreement with ACPO and APA on a revision to the funding 
formula that better deals with the shifting demands of protective services.

Recommendation 6:

Where police authorities determine that a sound business case exists for 
voluntary merger, every effort should be made by Government to facilitate this 
process.

Recommendation 7:

Forces should review their demand profiles, taking account of more detailed 
information now available, to ensure that resources are deployed to areas of 
greatest risk and priority. HMIC should use this information in inspections from 
2009-10.

Recommendation 8:

Forces should focus effort on ‘high potential’ areas for improved productivity, 
such as demand management (where QUEST has highlighted areas for 
improvement), procurement and flexible working. HMIC will be looking for 
evidence of using best practice in inspections from 2009-10

Recommendation 9:

Chief constables should ensure that they are taking an entrepreneurial approach 
to policing, not just in ethical income generation through private sector 
sponsorship and business enterprise, but also through encouraging finance 
directors to create and exploit ‘business opportunities’.
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Recommendation 10:

Building on recommendation 5 of the interim report, the NPIA should also begin 
building standard processes for use across forces. They should address the issue 
of double entry of information and be used as a precursor to the use of standard 
IT systems and mobile devices across all forces.

This work should include the creation of minimum standards for forces in areas 
such as GIS mapping and AVLS corporate performance information. Forces 
should explore the benefits of software systems and using partners’ data to 
identify priority areas.

Recommendation 11:

The Home Office should include in its forthcoming Green Paper consultation 
on the establishment of service-wide consistency of the implementation of 
standard systems and processes. The Green Paper should also specifically consult 
on the issue of whether the Home Office should mandate regional collaboration 
on issues such as procuring IT systems, Air Support, Fleet, Uniform etc.

Recommendation 12:

The NPIA should produce an interim evaluation report from the workforce 
modernisation pilot sites by autumn 2008 so that the service is not denied 
valuable learning pending the final report.

Recommendation 13:

The Home Office should set out its strategy for workforce reform in the 
forthcoming Green Paper, and the NPIA should facilitate the development of 
a ten-year workforce plan for the service. Both of these pieces of work should 
emphasise the importance of matching skills and aptitudes to roles and tasks.

Recommendation 14:

The NPIA should conduct a review of the Integrated Competency Framework on 
behalf of the tripartite partners to ensure that it is a useful and accessible tool 
for police managers and staff.

Recommendation 15:

The NPIA should provide guidance and assistance to police staff and officers to 
allow them to progress their careers within the police service through better 
management of their professional development.
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Recommendation 16:

Chief Constables should conduct a review of their forces’ working practices 
within Neighbourhood Policing to ensure flexible working options exist. HMIC 
will, as part of its inspection process, consider what progress has been made in 
this area from 2009/10.

Recommendation 17:

Detailed modelling of the impact of workforce reform on local, regional and 
national resilience should be incorporated into the ten-year workforce plan to 
be coordinated by the NPIA.

Recommendation 18:

The NPIA should work with forces on a post implementation review of the 
SOLAP workplace assessment and accreditation process, which the Greater 
Manchester Constabulary has offered to lead.

Recommendation 19:

All existing doctrine, which includes regulations, codes of practice, operational 
policing manuals and practical advice on best practice in the police service, 
should be reviewed and consolidated so the total impact can be assessed and 
overlaps in individual documents removed by the end of 2008.

This process should be led by ACPO, with support from the NPIA, on behalf of 
the service. The NPIA should play an ongoing role in considering all proposals 
to enhance doctrine. Their focus should be on the combined impact of changes 
to the service and the development of a protocol of ‘review and replace’ rather 
than continually adding to existing doctrine.
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Recommendation 20:

The government’s recently established Risk and Regulation Advisory Council 
should examine the role of risk within the police service, and begin a national 
debate on risk aversion and culture change at a central government level. 
Ministers, senior police leaders and stakeholders from the wider judicial system 
all need to engage in and take forward this debate.

ACPO and the other tripartite members should facilitate regional events on risk 
in the police service to engage staff and officers from all ranks in the debate on 
managing risk, and enhancing professional discretion and accountability. These 
events should include a practical discussion on existing processes in the police 
where little or no discretion exists.

The NPIA should take forward and ‘mainstream’ the outcome of these events as 
a ‘golden thread’ in the way it designs training, education and doctrine for the 
police service.

Recommendation 21:

To achieve the dual goal of public trust and confidence in crime statistics by 
ensuring all incidents and crimes are recorded and proportionately responded to, 
I recommend that:

(a)	 A new streamlined recording process is trialled from the beginning of 
2008, for a four month period. This new process will ensure that crimes are 
subject to proportionate recording, with a suitable minimum standard for 
all crimes and more comprehensive recording for serious crimes;

(b)	 A structured project is undertaken to address the lack of proportionate 
response in the service and to create a community focused performance 
regime for local crime;

(c)	 These proposals are implemented initially by Staffordshire, Leicestershire, 
West Midlands and Surrey forces who have volunteered in this regard; and

(d)	 The NPIA undertake a focused evaluation of these pilot sites.

Over this trial period, service wide data collected centrally may not be 
comparable. Any NCRS/NSIR audit and inspection regime must acknowledge 
the nature of the pilots and the potential wider benefits of more proportionate 
crime recording.

The Home Office should use its forthcoming Green Paper as an opportunity for 
public debate and consultation on proposals to amend the Notifiable Offences 
List, and complete a comprehensive review of it by the end of 2008.
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Recommendation 22:

I support the roll out of the Simple Speedy Summary Justice Initiative, and 
recommend that the Streamlined Process, Virtual Courts and Integrated 
Prosecution teams, be implemented nationally by 2012, taking into account 
lessons learned from each pilot and the local business case for implementation.

(a)	 The Crown Prosecution Service and ACPO should jointly work towards a 
single case file system within the framework of the Integrated Prosecution 
Teams.

(b)	 The Home Office, OCJR and Attorney General should work together to 
ensure that targets and performance indicators for the Police and Crown 
Prosecution Service are brought into alignment and set against the core 
objective of convicting the guilty. This should be achieved through the next 
spending review process.

(c)	 I welcome the news that the NPIA is putting better working between 
the police and the criminal justice system at the centre of its plans and 
that OCJR will continue with their comprehensive and radical review 
of the criminal justice processes. Further opportunities to achieve the 
government’s new PSA target to “increase the efficiency and effectiveness 
of the criminal justice system” should include consideration by these  
bodies of:

(1) the proportionality of current disclosure rules;

(2) simplifying current guidance on charging powers for the police; and

(3) �the extension of police charging powers to all cases heard at the 
magistrates’ court, and to additional offences subject to trial, either at 
the magistrates’ or the crown court.

Recommendation 23:

The Home Office should urgently initiate a review of the RIPA Codes of Practice. 
Once initiated I see no reason why with determination and commitment from 
the interested parties involved such a review could not be conducted over a  
3 month period.
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Recommendation 24:

The current comprehensive form for Stop and Account should be removed and 
replaced with the following measures:

(a)	 Any officer who asks an individual to account for themselves should 
provide that individual with a ‘receipt’ of the encounter in the form 
of a business card or similar, and use Airwave to record the encounter, 
including the ethnicity of the person subject to the encounter to enable 
disproportionality monitoring; and

(b) Supervisory officers should ‘dip sample’ these recordings. 

These proposals should be piloted in the West Midlands and evaluated by the 
end of summer 2008.

Recommendation 25:

The Home Office and CLG should consider how best to support improved 
community safety partnership working in two-tier areas, in particular 
encouraging greater collaboration between local partnerships to enhance their 
capacity to deliver key community safety services.

As the new Local Area Agreements are rolled out, the Home Office and CLG 
should also consider how best to support the delivery of tailored neighbourhood 
community safety outcomes.

Recommendation 26:

The Home Office, CLG and WAG should put in place proper governance and 
programme support arrangements to deliver the Action Plan which will promote 
the closer integration of Neighbourhood Policing with a neighbourhood 
management approach. These arrangements should be in place by autumn 2008.

Recommendation 27:

To promote improved partnership working and the closer integration of 
Neighbourhood Policing within a neighbourhood management approach, the 
relevant local government and policing agencies (NPIA, IDeA, LGA, Welsh LGA 
and Regional Improvement and Efficiency Partnerships (RIEP)) should develop a 
national leadership and training resource through a joint excellence programme. 
These bodies should explore whether the REIPs can provide funding for the 
programme.

This national resource will build local partners’ capacity to deliver shared 
community safety outcomes through joint training and development for both 
leaders and practitioners.
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Recommendation 28:

Recognising that the Single Non-Emergency Number programme has acted as 
a catalyst for improved partnership working, the Home Office and CLG should 
ensure that learning from the programme is shared with all community safety 
partners and identify how to encourage and incentivise the mainstreaming of 
this approach into local operations. This process should be completed by August 
2008.

Recommendation 29:

Chief constables and senior community safety partners should ensure that 
effective leadership, tasking and direction of neighbourhood resources are 
vested in the most appropriate individual, irrespective of the organisation for 
which the individual works.

Recommendation 30:

The NPIA should, by April 2008, have agreed a funded programme for the next 
three years to continue to support forces to embed Neighbourhood Policing.

Recommendation 31:

ACPO, the APA and the NPIA should develop a broad set of principles for 
minimising abstraction from neighbourhood policing teams by April 2008. 
These should be adopted by all forces no later than June 2008. Progress will be 
reviewed in.

Recommendation 32:

The APA, with the support of the NPIA, should develop guidance for police 
authorities on how they can promote and sustain Neighbourhood Policing. This 
guidance should be be completed by July 2008.

HMIC, the Audit Commission and the Wales Audit Office should assess, as 
part of police authority inspection, how well police authorities contribute to 
embedding and sustaining Neighbourhood Policing and its outcomes.

Recommendation 33:

CLG’s Cohesion Delivery Framework (to be published in Summer 2008) should 
provide support and guidance to local partners on the key role Neighbourhood 
Policing teams play in improving cohesion, and on how that role can be 
developed further locally.
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Annex D: Results of the Review’s public 
consultation

What did the public say about policing?
“More police” would seem to be the most popular way of increasing trust and 
confidence, followed by a quicker response following calls for service and more 
information.

The majority support working in partnership and, in theory at least, the majority of 
people (other than the young) say they favour greater involvement in local policing. 
In practice, however, the majority of people are constrained by many barriers to 
greater involvement, such as not having the skills, the confidence or the time or 
feeling that their contribution will not be taken seriously. 

Some members of the public are more interested in working more closely with 
the police than others. The most interested seem to be the elderly, who have more 
time on their hands, and the least interested are young people. Those who have 
had contact with the police, whether as victims, witnesses or suspects, expressed a 
greater interest in working more closely with the police than those who had had no 
contact, although those from lower socio-economic status (SES) groups tend to be 
rather cynical about working together with the police. 

For most people, the idea of “local” covers little more than their street and its 
immediate surrounds. People do value greater visibility and accessibility; they want 
to know who their local bobby is and how to contact him/her and they want local 
police stations to be accessible 24/7. The police are seen as doing a good job when 
dealing with serious incidents but as doing a poor job when dealing with less serious, 
more local incidents. 

The young and those from lower SES groups tend to distrust the police and see 
them as heavy-handed; older people and those from higher SES groups see them 
as ill-directed, focusing too much of their time on what they consider to be trivial 
problems, such as speeding and parking. Those with little contact tend to view the 
police as over-burdened, and not responsive to local concerns. 

Most people know little about how local policing works, are cynical about the 
value and purpose of public meetings (especially the young and those from lower 
SES groups) and are sceptical about whether local communities would be able 
(let alone willing) to hold the police to account. However they would appreciate 
more information about what the police do in their local area and many would 
like to have a say on local issues, how they should be policed and what should be 
prioritised. 

COI, on behalf of the Review of Policing by Sir Ronnie Flanagan. Research Report, 
November 2007. Research Works Limited
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Annex E – Alternative models for local 
accountability

Chicago Alternative Policing Strategy (CAPS)
The Chicago Alternative Policing Strategy (CAPS) was introduced in 1993 to 
increase the responsiveness and effectiveness of police problem solving by linking 
these efforts directly to a broad range of city services and involving the public in 
identifying and seeking solutions to neighbourhood problems. While it has had 
some success, there is debate about to what extent this is directly attributable 
to CAPS and whether the structure has been as effective in relation to planning 
and assessment. Also, that the boards have had stable membership which may be 
unrepresentative of the wider community.

Northern Ireland Partnership Boards
These were established in 2001 and replaced the police authority. Whilst the 
arrangements provide strong directional accountability at national and district level, 
with the chief constable maintaining operational responsibility for policing, and the 
board having the power to require a report on any issue, including an explanation 
of operational decisions. There is, therefore, strong governance accountability 
(process of oversight), answerability to the public and an emphasis on partnership 
between the police and community in terms of the effectiveness of community 
safety. However, the arrangements were designed and aimed at better integration 
of the police service into the normal life of Northern Ireland and fitted to the 
unique context there. This is not felt to be a directly transferable model and, 
indeed, Northern Ireland are currently conducting a review of their own policing 
arrangements.

New York Police Department (NYPD) – Mayor led democracy 
Most commentators on the success of the New York Police Department in reducing 
crime agree that moves to a flexible, accountable and localised policing structure, 
combined with a multi agency approach and support of elected politicians has 
contributed to its success. In particular, the compstat management tool developed, 
gives senior officers week by week real time crime statistics broken down by 
precinct, which is used to move resources to where the priorities are. Data is fed 
back to senior officers at meetings (attended by the mayor and other non policing 
officials) where files are pulled on individual boroughs of concern, and beat 
officers are made to account for responsiveness to community concerns. Precinct 
commanders also attend borough council meetings to deal with concerns and 
discuss performance. The general public is kept up to date with weekly crime rates 
and strategies to reduce crime via a compstat web site. The public certainly know 
who is responsible for ‘pulling everything together’ and the mayor has the power 
over all services with much stronger linkages between public service departments. 
Strong local accountability drives public services to concentrate on things that local 
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communities care about and increases public satisfaction with the police. Active 
community involvement is a key element of compstat and has played a part in 
reducing crime and increasing civil regeneration. 

However, there is again some debate on how much is attributable to these moves, 
and the inter-dependence of politicians and senior police officers has given rise to 
claims of bias and interference in particular cases..
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Annex F – Glossary of terms

Acronym/ 
term

Explanation                                                  Further information/website

ABC Activity Based Costing    http://police.homeoffice.gov.uk/
finance-and-business-planning/
index/

ACPO Association of Chief Police Officers http://www.acpo.police.uk/

All Wales 
Community 
Safety Forum

The purpose of the Forum is to enable 
community safety issues to be addressed 
between key partners on a strategic and all 
Wales basis and to provide an arena through 
which best-practice and innovation can be 
disseminated across Wales.

http://www.wlga.gov.uk/content.
php?nID=331;lID=1

APA Association of Police Authorities http://www.apa.police.uk/apa

APACS Assessments of Policing and Community Safety http://police.homeoffice.gov.uk/
performance-and-measurement/
assess-policing-community-safety/

Better 
Regulation 
Executive

A unit within the department of Business, 
Enterprise and Regulatory Reform

http://bre.berr.gov.uk/regulation/

BCU/OCU Basic Command Unit/Operational Command 
Unit

A territorial division of a police 
force, which typically coincides 
with one or more local authority 
boundaries. It is usually organised 
under the command of a chief 
superintendent. 

CAA Comprehensive Area Assessments http://www.audit-commission.gov.
uk/and 
http://www.communities.gov.uk

CDRPs Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships http://www.crimereduction.gov.uk/
regions/regions00.htm#1

CIPFA The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy

http://www.cipfa.org.uk/

CLG      Communities and Local Government http://www.communities.gov.uk

CJS/CJ Criminal Justice system/Criminal Justice http://www.cjsonline.gov.uk/

CJSSS Criminal Justice Simple, Speedy Summary 
Justice initiative

http://www.cjsonline.gov.uk/the_
cjs/whats_new/news-3512.html

CPS Crown Prosecution Service http://www.cps.gov.uk/

CSPs Community Safety Partnerships http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/
crime-victims/reducing-crime/
community-safety/
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Acronym/ 
term

Explanation                                                  Further information/website

CSR Comprehensive Spending Review http://www.hm-treasury.gov.uk./
spending_review/spending_review/
spend_index.cfm

DATs Drug action teams (DATs) are the partnerships 
responsible for delivering the drug strategy at a 
local level.

http://drugs.homeoffice.gov.uk/dat/

DGQP Directors Guidance Quick Process  (now known 
as The Streamlined Process)

Government 
Offices

Representing 11 Whitehall Departments, 
Government Offices are based in the English 
regions.

http://www.gos.gov.uk/national/

HMIC Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary http://inspectorates.homeoffice.gov.
uk/hmic/

Home 
Affairs Select 
Committee

The Committee is charged with examining the 
expenditure, policy and administration of the 
Home Office and its associated public bodies.

http://www.parliament.uk/
parliamentary_committees/home_
affairs_committee.cfm

HSE Health and Safety Executive http://www.hse.gov.uk/

IDEA Improvement and Development Agency http://www.idea.gov.uk/ 
idk/core/page.do?pageId=1

LAAs Local Area Agreements http://www.communities.gov.
uk/localgovernment/about/
partnerships-laas   
and http://www.communities.gov.
uk/ 
localgovernment/
performanceframework 
partnerships/localareaagreements 
and http://www.idea.gov.uk/idk/
core/page.do?pageId=1174195

LEAN thinking An approach developed by Toyota car 
manufacturers to improve productivity, and 
other approaches to process improvement. 
It seeks to eliminate wasteful processes and 
blockages by looking at the system from the 
bottom-up, identifying issues from the frontline.

E.g. see CIPFA paper: http://
www.cipfanetworks.net/
fileupload/upload/Lean_
briefing1912007311331.pdf

Local Service 
Agreements 
(in Wales) 

a manageable, agreed programme of work 
which captures the priorities for adding value to 
the delivery of the Community Strategy

http://wales.gov.uk/
topics/improvingservices/
localserviceboards/
localserviceagreements/ ?lang=en

Local Service 
Boards

Local Service Boards (LSBs) are Wales’ new 
model for engaging the whole of the Wales 
public service in a new way of working by 
integrating services and responding more 
effectively to citizens’ needs. 

http://wales.gov.uk/
topics/improvingservices/
localserviceboards/?lang=en
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Acronym/ 
term

Explanation                                                  Further information/website

LSPs Local Strategic Partnerships http://www.communities.
gov.uk/localgovernment/
performanceframework 
partnerships/
localstrategicpartnerships/

MPS Metropolitan Police Service http://www.met.police.uk/

National    
Policing Board 
(NPB)

The National Policing Board was established in 
July 2006 to help strengthen the governance of 
policing in England and Wales. (Includes steering 
groups, e.g. on Protective Services )

http://police.homeoffice. gov.
uk/police-reform/nat-policing-
board/?version=7

NCRS National Crime Recording Standard www.homeoffice.gov.uk/rds/
recordedcrime1.html

NOL Notifiable Offence List  http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/rds/
countrules.htm 

NPIA National Policing Improvement Agency http://www.npia.police.uk/

NRRP National Reassurance Policing Programme  http://police.homeoffice.gov.uk/
community-policing/national-
reassurance-programme?version=2

OCG Office of Government Commerce http://www.ogc.gov.uk/

OCJR Office of Criminal Justice Reform  http://www.cjsonline.gov.uk/the_
cjs/departments_of_the_cjs/ocjr/
index.html

OSC Office of Surveillance Commissioners http://www.
surveillancecommissioners.gov.uk/

PCSD Police and Crime Standards Directorate http://police.homeoffice.gov.
uk/about-us/police-crime-
standards/?version=4

PCSOs Police Community Support Officers http://police.homeoffice.gov.uk/
community-policing/community-
support-officers/

Police 
Advisory 
Board for 
England and 
Wales

The Police Advisory Board for England and 
Wales (PABEW) advises the home secretary 
on general questions affecting the police 
in England and Wales; and considers draft 
regulations which the Home Secretary proposes 
to make under section 50 or section 52 of the 
Police Act 1996 – except for matters such as 
pay and negotiable conditions of service which 
fall within the remit of the Police Negotiating 
Board – and to make such recommendations as 
it sees fit.

http://www.ome.uk.com/review.
cfm?body=9
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Acronym/ 
term

Explanation                                                  Further information/website

Police Grant/
Funding 
formula

The police grant is the funding given by the 
Home Office to police authorities based on the 
Police Funding Formula, which is designed to 
assess the relative need for resources between 
forces.

See http://www.local.odpm.gov.
uk/finance/stats/lgfs/2005/lgfs16/
annex%20g.pdf for more terms

Police 
Negotiating 
Board

The Police Negotiating Board (PNB) was 
established by Act of Parliament in 1980 
to negotiate the hours of duty; leave; pay 
and allowances; the issue, use and return 
of police clothing, personal equipment and 
accoutrements; and pensions of United 
Kingdom police officers, and to make 
recommendations on these matters to 
the Home Secretary, Secretary of State for 
Northern Ireland, and Scottish Ministers.

http://www.ome.uk.com/review.
cfm?body=1

Police Staff 
Council 

The Police Staff Council (PSC) is a voluntary 
negotiation body – unlike the Police 
Negotiating Board – and negotiates for 50,000 
police staff in England and Wales, excluding the 
Metropolitan Police. The national agreements 
of the PSC are only binding if police authorities 
and chief constables agree to incorporate them 
within the contracts of employment of their 
employees.

http://www.lge.gov.uk/lge/core/
page.do?pageId=54123

PPAF Police Performance Assessment Framework http://police.homeoffice.gov.uk/
news-and-publications/publication/
performance-and-measurement/
ppaf_guidelines0506.pdf?version=1

Primary Care 
Trusts

Primary care trusts (PCTs) covering all parts 
of England have taken control of local health 
care while strategic Health Authorities monitor 
performance and standards.

http://www.dh.gov.uk/
en/Policyandguidance/
Organisationpolicy/Primarycare/
Primarycaretrusts/index.htm

Protective 
Services

Terrorism, serious crime and other major 
challenges to public safety. 

http://police.homeoffice.gov.
uk/police-reform/protective-
services1/?version=1

PSA

(including e.g. 
PSA 23)

Public Service Agreement http://www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/
documents/public_spending_
reporting/

PURE Use of resources judgements for policing by 
Audit Commission and the Wales Audit Office. 
(PURE involves auditors assessing whether 
police authorities and forces are achieving value 
for money, effective financial management)

http://www.audit-commission.gov.
uk/reports/NATIONAL-REPORT.
asp?CategoryID=&ProdID= 
7AB8C86D-3E9E-4ec6-9E60-
A60C799BA437
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Acronym/ 
term

Explanation                                                  Further information/website

QSC Quality of Service commitment and standards http://police.homeoffice.gov.uk/
police-reform/reform-programme/
citizen-focus/customer-service-
standards?version=3 

Regional 
Improvement 
and Efficiency 
Partnerships

Regional Improvement and Efficiency 
Partnerships support councils to deliver priority 
outcomes for their communities

http://www.lga.gov.uk/lga/core/
page.do?pageId=18437

RIPA Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (2000) http://security.homeoffice. gov.uk/
ripa/about-ripa/

SOCA Serious Organised Crime Agency http://www.soca.gov.uk/

The 
Streamlined 
Process 

(see Directors Guidance Quick Process)

124



of Policing
FINAL  
Report

by Sir Ronnie Flanagan

The Review

Produced on behalf of the Review of Policing by Sir Ronnie Flanagan. February 2008. 

ISBN 978-1-84726-578-4




